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Before EMLIO M GARZA, BENAVIDES, and DENNI'S, G rcuit Judges.
BENAVI DES, Circuit Judge:

Plaintiff Patricia Matassarin appeals the district court’s
grants of summary judgnent dism ssing her ERI SA and securities
claims. We affirm

I

In this unusual enployee benefits matter, Patricia
Mat assarin, who is the plaintiff/appellant and the current
plaintiff’s attorney of record, brought suit against the G eat
Enpi re Broadcasting, Inc. (“Geat Enpire”) enployee stock
ownership plan (“ESOP” or “Plan”) and its fiduciaries and author.
The Great Enpire ESOP is subject to the Enpl oyee Retirenent
I ncone Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA’), 29 U S. C. 88 1001 et seq.

Until 1988, appellees Mke Lynch and M chael Gatnan owned 75
and 25 percent of Great Enpire, respectively. Geat Enpire
established the ESCP effective January 1, 1988, by docunent
executed on Cctober 21, 1988, in order to distribute Lynch’s and
Catman’ s shares nore w dely anong G eat Enpire enployees. The
Pl an was restated on Novenber 15, 1994. The restatenent, which
brought the Plan into conpliance with certain tax code
provi sions, was deened retroactive to January 1, 1989. Appellee

Menke & Associates, Inc. drafted the original docunents
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establishing the ESOP and continues to provide mnisteri al
services to G-eat Enpire but does not serve as the Plan
admnistrator. Every Geat Enpire enpl oyee who satisfies the
ESOP' s service requirenents and who is not subject to a

col l ective bargai ning agreenent automatically becones a Pl an
participant. As Great Enpire nmakes all contributions to the Pl an,
enpl oyee participants do not contribute directly.

Appel  ant Matassarin was married to appel |l ee Danny Jenki ns,
Great Enpire’s chief financial officer and a participant in the
Great Enpire ESOP, until the couple divorced on Cctober 15, 1991.
Upon their divorce, Jenkins and Matassarin entered into a
qualified donestic relations order (“QDRO), which was approved
by a Kansas state court. Menke & Associ ates suggested the terns
of the @QDRO Under the QDRO, Jenkins agreed to assign Matassarin
one-half of his interest in the Geat Enpire ESOP. Geat Enpire
woul d hold Matassarin’s interest in a segregated account, where
it would accrue interest at the rate of a one-year certificate of

deposit.! The QDRO did not specify how long Geat Enpire would

1. Paragraphs 4 and 5 of Matassarin and Jenkins’s QDRO
state:

4. The Husband assigns to the Wfe as Alternate
Payee one-half of his interest of the assets accredited
to Participant’s ESOP Accounts as of Cctober 15, 1991.
Thi s assignnent of benefits will require that the
Adm ni strator of the Great Enpire Broadcasting, |nc.
ESOP segregate the Alternate Payee’ s interest, and that
sai d segregated account wll continue to accunul ate
interest at a rate equivalent to a one-year Certificate
of Deposit.

5. Thi s assignnent of benefits does not require
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retain Matassarin's interest or when it would pay any
distribution directly to her. Matassarin was represented by
counsel when she agreed to the QDRO

On the day of Jenkins’'s divorce from Matassarin, his G eat
Enpi re ESOP account held 1040. 171 total shares. The Pl an
adm ni strat or segregated 520.086 of those shares into an account
for Matassarin. The Plan adm nistrator val ued Matassarin's
520. 086 shares at $22 per share, their market value at the end of
1990, the Plan’s | ast determ nation date for value. Matassarin's
interest in the Plan, thus cal cul ated, total ed approxi mately
$11,442. The Plan admi nistrator then all owed Matassarin’s account
to accunul ate interest at the rate of a one-year certificate of
deposit.

When Great Enpire restated its Plan on Decenber 15, 1994,
M chael Catman sent a letter to everyone who had a segregated
account under the original Plan. Mdst of the segregated-account
hol ders, approximately sixty-seven people, were Plan participants
who had left Geat Enpire’ s enploynent and had accounts

establ i shed pursuant to Plan 8§ 14(h).2 The letter stated that the

that the Plan provide any type or formof benefit, or
any option, not otherw se provided under the Plan

Parag}abh'S'reflects t he | anguage of 29 U S.C. § 1056(d)(3)(D)

2. Section 14(h) of the original Plan provided, in part,
that a Plan participant’s segregated account would earn interest
equi valent to that paid on a one-year certificate of deposit
(“CD"):

Any part of a Participant’s Plan Benefit which is
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ESOP adm nistrative conmm ttee® had authorized | unp-sum

di stributions to segregated-account holders. The letter offered
distributions either in cash or in shares of Geat Enpire stock.
Mat assarin contends that she never received this letter, and in
any event she did not respond to it. Qatnman sent foll ow up
correspondence to Matassarin and ot her segregated-account hol ders
in May 1995,% which reiterated the distribution offer but failed
to nmention that segregated-account hol ders could select shares of
conpany stock as their formof distribution. The appell ees now
contend that Matassarin, unlike other segregated-account hol ders,

was not entitled to any distribution and was sent Catnman’s

retained in the Trust after the Anniversary Date
coinciding with or imediately follow ng the date on
whi ch he term nates enploynent will be credited to a
separate account in the nane of the Participant, and
such account shall be credited with interest on the
unpai d principal balance at the rate paid on one-year
certificates of deposit (as of the beginning of each
Pl an Year) by any bank or savings and | oan associ ation
designated, in its sole discretion, by the Commttee.
: The balance in a Participant’s undistributed
account shall represent his interest in the Conpany
Stock Account and the O her |nvestnents Account.
However, except in the case of reenploynent (as
provided for in Section 4), none of his Accounts w |
be credited with any further Enployer Contributions or
Forfeitures.

Section 14(g) of the anmended Pl an provides essentially simlar

| anguage.

3. The adm nistrative conmttee oversees the trustees’
actions. Lynch and Gatnman, along with appell ees Karen Warner, Don
Burford, and Curtis Brown, conprise the commttee.

4. It appears fromthe record that all segregated-account
hol ders who failed to respond to the Decenber received such
fol |l ow up correspondence.
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correspondence only in error. According to the appell ees,

8§ 18(e)(4) in both the original and the restated Pl an provides
that the Plan need not offer Matassarin any distribution until
Jenkins is eligible for retirenment. Section 18(e)(4) states: “In
the case of any paynent to an Alternate Payee before a

Partici pant has separated from service, the Plan shall not be
required to make any paynent to an Alternate Payee prior to the
date Participant attains (or would have attained) the Earliest
Retirenent Age.” It is not clear fromthe record how many of the
segr egat ed-account hol ders received paynent. For those who did,
the Pl an adm ni strator converted the “suspended” stock, i.e.,
that in the segregated accounts, to cash value for distribution
then reall ocated the stock anong active Plan participants. For

di stribution purposes, the Plan apparently val ued the suspended
stock by the fair market val ue for whichever year-end preceded
the relevant enployee’s termnation from G eat Enpire enpl oynent.
The Great Enpire ESOP defines the “valuation date” as the
Decenber 31 “coinciding with or inmediately preceding the date of
actual distribution of Plan Benefits.”

On May 9, 1996, Matassarin brought suit in the United States
District Court for the Western District of Texas agai nst Lynch,
Cat man, Jenkins, Great Enpire, Warner, Menke & Associ ates, and
unknown nmenbers of Great Enpire’s Board of Directors. She all eged
that the defendants commtted conmon-| aw fraud and viol at ed
ERI SA, federal securities laws, and state securities |aws.
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Mat assarin filed a nmotion for class certification, with
herself as the representative plaintiff, which the district court
denied. She then filed a notion to have her suit treated as a
sharehol der’ s derivative action, or alternatively for joinder, or
alternatively for reconsideration of the district court’s
deci sion denying class certification. The district court denied
the notion in toto.

The district court then granted partial summary judgnent
agai nst Matassarin on her federal securities clains against
Lynch, QGatman, Jenkins, Warner, Geat Enpire, and Menke &

Associ ates. Matassarin anended her conpl aint, adding Burford and
Brown, nenbers of the ESOP adm nistrative conmttee, as

def endants. The court granted partial summary judgnent on

Mat assarin’s federal securities clains against Burford and Brown,
as wel | .

The court next granted partial summary judgnent for all of
t he defendants on Matassarin’s fraud, conversion, and state
securities clains.

The defendants filed a notion for partial sunmary judgnment
on Matassarin’s claimfor attorneys’ fees. The district court
granted sunmary judgnent with regard to any | egal work done or
supervi sed by Matassarin but denied the notion as to work done by

ot her attorneys.?®

5. The law firmof Brin & Brin, P.C., where Matassarin
worked as an attorney, originally represented Matassarin in this

-7-



The district court then ordered Matassarin to file an
anmended conplaint including only clains that still remained after
the summary judgnent grants. Matassarin did so, alleging only
ERI SA viol ations. The court thereafter struck Matassarin's jury
demand and, in two separate orders, granted summary judgnent for
the defendants on Matassarin’s ERI SA cl ains, effectively ending
her suit.

Mat assarin also filed a notion requesting that Judge Prado,
the presiding judge, recuse hinself fromthe case on the basis of
al | eged bias. The judge denied the notion, pronpting Matassarin
to petition this Court for a wit of mandanus directing Judge
Prado to recuse hinself. A three-judge panel of this Court denied
the petition and Matassarin’ s subsequent notion for rehearing on
t he issue.

Both Matassarin and the defendants filed notions seeking to
recover attorneys’ fees. The district court denied Matassarin’s
nmotion but, finding Matassarin's ERI SA suit “frivol ous,” awarded
nore than $24,000 in attorneys’ fees to Menke & Associ ates and
nore than $88,000 to the other defendants.

Mat assarin now appeals the district court’s refusal to

matter. Matassarin signed many of the Brin & Brin pleadings
hersel f. At sone tine during these proceedi ngs, Matassarin’s

enpl oynent with Brin & Brin ended and Brin & Brin ceased
representing her. Matassarin, unable to find counsel who would
take the case on a contingent-fee basis, began to handl e the case
al one.
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certify her proposed cl asses;® the grants of summary judgnent on
her ERI SA and securities clains; the striking of her jury demand;
Judge Prado’s refusal to recuse hinself; and the denial of her
nmotion for attorneys’ fees. The district court awarded attorneys’
fees to the defendants after Matassarin filed her first notice of
appeal . As such, Matassarin contests that award as part of a
separate appeal, No. 98-50473, which is not now before this
Court.
|1

Mat assarin requested certification of three classes. First,
she asked the district court to certify a class of all Geat
Enpi re ESOP partici pants, on whose behalf she sought to resol ve
“anbi guity between the Plan Docunents, specifically, which Plan
Docunment governs ‘distribution’ and ‘valuation” decisions”; and
“to unseat the [Plan] Trustees for fraudul ent m srepresentations,
conflict of interest, failure to conply with the Pl an Docunent,
and/ or inconpetence.” Second, Matassarin sought to certify a
class of all Plan beneficiaries who were offered |unp suns for
their segregated accounts. She contended that these beneficiaries

were denied the fair value of their interests and “have been the

6. Matassarin raises the follow ng issue on appeal: “The
District Court erred in finding that Matassarin was not a
‘suitable’ representative for C ass Action and/or Joi nder and/or
a Sharehol der’s Derivative Action and in denying Mtions
pertaining to each.” Wthin her brief, however, Matassarin
addresses only the issue of class certification. W therefore
deem the issues of joinder and sharehol der’s derivative abandoned
on appeal by Matassarin and do not consider themfurther.
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victin]{s] of msrepresentations concerning the fair val ue of
their benefits and/or their ability to elect distribution in the
formof stock.” Finally, Matassarin sought certification for
“QDRO beneficiaries whose valuations were frozen at the tinme of
their divorce[s].”

A district court has wide discretion in deciding whether to
certify a proposed class. See Applewhite v. Reichhold Chem cal s,
Inc., 67 F.3d 571, 573 (5th Gr. 1995). So long as the district
court considers the four Rule 23 criteria,’” this Court will
reverse the decision only if the district court abused its
di scretion. See Lightbourn v. Gty of El Paso, 118 F.3d 421, 426
(5th Gir. 1997).

The district court in this case did not abuse its
di scretion. The court nentioned and considered the Rule 23
prerequi sites. Accurately considering Fifth Grcuit precedent,
the court found that Matassarin’s “continuing and virul ent
ant agoni sni agai nst defendant Jenkins, her prior litigation

agai nst Jenkins, her adm ssion that she m ght bring another claim

7. Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 23 lists four
prerequisites to a class action:
(1) the class is so nunerous that joinder of al
menbers is inpracticable, (2) there are questions of
| aw or fact comon to the class, (3) the clains or
defenses of the representative parties are typical of
the clains or defenses of the class, and (4) the
representative parties will fairly and adequately
protect the interests of the cl ass.
Fed. R Cv. P. 23(A).
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agai nst the defendants, and her probable unwillingness to settle
made her an inappropriate representative. . Fed. R Cv. P
23(A). W& see no abuse of discretion in this decision.

Mat assarin’ s pl eadi ngs nake specific reference to i nformation,
presumably passed in confidence from spouse to spouse before the
di vorce, regarding Jenkins’s notivation in hel ping establish the
ESOP and his desire to benefit hinself. Based on such pl eadi ngs
and on the nature of this case, the district court reasonably
found that Matassarin mght be nore interested in hurting her ex-
husband than in ensuring adequate representation for a class. In
addition, the district court rightly found that Matassarin coul d
not serve as both the representative plaintiff and the class
attorney; her duty to represent class interests would

i nperm ssibly conflict with her chance to gain financially from
an award of attorneys’ fees. The Fifth Grcuit frowns upon a
nanmed plaintiff’s partner or spouse serving as counsel for a
class. See, e.qg., Phillips v. Joint Legislative Conmttee on
Performance and Expenditure Review, 637 F.2d 1014, 1023 (5th Gr.
1981); Zylstra v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 578 F.2d 102, 104 (5th
Cr. 1978). It follows that the sane reasoni ng should prevent a
nanmed plaintiff herself fromserving as counsel. See Zylstra, 578
F.2d at 104 (“We are persuaded . . . that attorneys . . . who

t hensel ves are nenbers of the class of plaintiffs should be

subject to a per se rule of disqualification under Canon 9 [ of
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t he Code of Professional Responsibility] and should not be
permtted to serve as counsel for the class.”). Finally, even
apart fromthose grounds upon which the district court explicitly
relied, several other considerations support the denial of class
certification. These include Matassarin's atypical position as a
QDRO beneficiary to the ESOP--Mtassarin herself spends pages of
her reply brief to this Court arguing that she was in fact
di scrim nated against and treated differently than ot her ESOP
participants, including other segregated-account hol ders--and the
likely failure of at | east one of her proposed classes to neet
Rul e 23" s nunerosity requirenent.

Accordingly, the district court’s decision to deny class
certification did not constitute an abuse of discretion.

1]

W affirmthe district court’s grant of sunmmary judgnent for
the defendants as to Matassarin's state and federal securities
cl ai ns.
A Federal Securities O ains

A cause of action falls under the 1933 Securities Act and
the 1934 Securities Exchange Act only if the interest involved
constitutes a “security” under 8 2(1) of the "33 Act, 15 U S.C

§ 77b(a)(1),® or § 3(a)(10) of the ’34 Act, 15 U.S.C

8. Section 77b(a)(1l) provides:

The term “security” nmeans any note, stock,
treasury stock, bond, debenture, evidence of
i ndebt edness, certificate of interest or participation
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§ 78c(a)(10).° Neither Act specifically includes any sort of

ERI SA-type plan in its definition. The few courts addressing
whet her such plans are securities have focused on whet her the

pl ans constitute “investnent contracts” under the Acts. See,
e.g., International Brotherhood of Teansters v. Daniel, 439 U S
551, 99 S. C. 790 (1979); Uselton v. Commercial Lovel ace Mot or
Freight, 940 F.2d 564 (10th Gr. 1991). An investnent contract
has three conponents: It (1) involves an investnent of noney (2)
in a comon enterprise (3) with profits to cone solely fromthe
efforts of others. See SEC v. WJ. Howey Co., 328 U S. 293, 301,
66 S. C. 1100, 1104 (1946). Mtassarin contends that |anguage in
the Great Enpire ESOP docunent--such as “stock” and “security”--

establishes that an interest in the ESOP is a security. This

in any profit-sharing agreenent, collateral-trust
certificate, preorganization certificate or
subscription, transferable share, investnent contract,
voting-trust certificate, certificate of deposit for a
security, fractional undivided interest in oil, gas, or
other mneral rights, any put, call, straddle, option,
or privilege on any security, certificate of deposit,
or group or index of securities (including any interest
therein based on the value thereof), or any put, call,
straddle, option, or privilege entered into on a

nati onal securities exchange relating to foreign
currency, or, in general, any interest or instrunent
comonly known as a “security”, or any certificate of
interest or participation in, tenporary or interim
certificate for, receipt for, guarantee of, or warrant
or right to subscribe to or purchase, any of the

f or egoi ng.

9. Section 78c(a)(10)’'s definition of “security” is simlar
to that of § 77b(a)(1).
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argunent is without nerit. The Howey test “is to be applied in
light of ‘the substance--the economc realities of the
transaction--rather than the nanmes that may have been enpl oyed by
the parties.”” Daniel, 439 U S at 558, 99 S. . at 796 (quoting
Uni t ed Housi ng Foundation, Inc. v. Forman, 421 U S. 837, 851-52,
95 S. . 2051, 2060 (1975)). Matassarin also argues that the
Tenth Grcuit’s reasoning in Uselton, the only case since Danie
in which a circuit court discussed at |ength whether an ESOP
constitutes a security, should control in this case. W agree
that Uselton’ s reasoning is persuasive, but we find that the
Great Enpire ESOP, considered under Daniel and Uselton together,
is not subject to "33 or 34 Act protection.

Dani el involved a union-established pension plan to which
enpl oyers contributed. Every union nenber had to belong to the
pl an and coul d not have the enployer contributions paid directly
to himinstead of to the plan. Every plan participant who served
20 continuous years with the union received identical “defined”
pension benefits after retirenment. The enpl oyers nade uniform
contributions for each week an enpl oyee worked. An enpl oyee did
not have an individual account tied to enpl oyer contributions
attributable to his period of service. Wen the union denied
benefits to menber John Daniel after he retired, Daniel sued
under the "33 and ' 34 Acts. The Court found that the union

pension plan did not constitute an “investnent contract” under
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Howey. First, the Court found that the plan did not include an
“Investnent of noney”: The plan collected a small part of each
enpl oyee’ s conpensati on package, but the enployee did not pay any
“tangi bl e and definable consideration in return for an interest.”
Daniel, 439 U S. at 560, 99 S. &. at 797. Furthernore, no fixed
relati onshi p existed between enpl oyer contributions to the fund
and an enpl oyee’s potential benefit. “Looking at the economc

realities,” the Court wote, “it seens clear that an enpl oyee is
selling his labor primarily to obtain a livelihood, not nmaking an
investnent.” Id. at 560, 99 S. C. at 797. Second, the Court
reiterated that, as it had stated in Forman, “the ‘touchstone’ of
the Howey test ‘is the presence of an investnent in a conmon
venture prem sed on a reasonabl e expectation of profits to be
derived fromthe entrepreneurial or managerial efforts of
others.”” Id. (quoting Forman, 421 U S. at 852, 95 S. . at
2060). Al though the union pension fund in Daniel depended sonme on
earnings fromits assets, “a far larger portion of its incone

[ cane] from enpl oyer contributions, a source in no way dependent
on the efforts of the [plan’s] managers.” Id. at 562, 99 S. O

at 797. An enployee’s receipt of benefits was not tied to the
financial health of the plan but instead to the enployee’s
meeting eligibility requirenments. Therefore, “viewed in |ight of
the total conpensation package an enpl oyee nmust receive in order

to be eligible for pension benefits, it [becane] clear that the
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possibility of participating in a plan’s asset earnings ‘[was]
far too specul ative and insubstantial to bring the entire
transaction within the Securities Acts.’” Id. at 563, 99 S. C
at 798 (quoting Forman, 421 U. S. at 856, 95 S. C. at 2062).

Usel ton concerned an entirely different type of plan, an
ESOP. In 1984, Pepsico, Inc. sold Lee WAy Mot or Freight ("Lee
Way”), a wholly owned subsidiary, to Commercial Lovelace (“CL").
Al nost i mmedi ately, CL began encouragi ng Lee Way’ s uni on
enpl oyees to participate in CL's year-old wage-reduction program
The program al |l owed an enpl oyee to take a voluntary 17. 35-percent
reduction in wages in exchange for profit sharing and an interest
in CL's existing ERI SA-governed ESOP. The ESOP est abli shed
i ndi vi dual accounts for participants, allocating shares of CL
stock according to the enpl oyee’s conpensation. Wthin a year, CL
merged with Lee Way and filed for bankruptcy. Pepsico thereafter
all egedly reacquired Lee Way's forner assets. Union enpl oyees who
had chosen to participate in the wage-reducti on program charged
that Pepsico’ s sale of Lee Way and CL’s rapid dem se were a sham
transaction to facilitate and di sguise Pepsico’s |iquidation of
Lee Way. They brought suit to recover their contributed wages,
relying in part on federal securities |aws.

The Tenth G rcuit acknow edged that “an enpl oyee benefit
plan that is either noncontributory or conpulsory is not an

i nvest ment contract because it does not allow a participant to
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make the ‘investnent’ required by the first prong of the Howey
test.” Uselton, 940 F.2d at 573-74. The court noted, however,

that in the CL ESOP, each union enpl oyee who chose to join gave
up specific consideration--a portion of his wages--and thus nade
an investnment. See id. at 575-76. The court also held that the CL
ESOP satisfied the third Howey prong, as it would produce
capital -appreciation profits and/or allow participation in
earnings resulting fromthe investnent: “[Alny profit on
plaintiffs’ ESOP interest would occur through dividend
distributions and appreciation in the value of the stock
allocated to their accounts, which in both cases would result
primarily fromthe efforts [of] CL’s managers and its enpl oyees.”
ld. at 576-77.

Under the Tenth G rcuit’s reasoning, the G eat Enpire ESOP
meets Howey’'s third prong. Nonethel ess, under both Uselton and
Daniel, the G eat Enpire ESOP fails Howey’'s first prong; it is
not a voluntary investnent choice, but instead a nandatory,
enpl oyer - funded program ° Matassarin therefore cannot maintain a
federal securities action, and the district court’s grant of

summary judgnent is affirnmed as to that claim

10. Matassarin seeks to defeat this point by arguing that
“an individual may use cash to purchase shares of stock.” This
argunent m srepresents the Plan provision she cites, 8§ 17(b),
whi ch provides only that a participant nay | eave a portion of his
distributions, if any, in the Plan for reinvestnent. This is not
equi val ent to using cash fromany source to buy stock.
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B. State Securities Cains

Mat assarin al so brought clainms under Texas Busi ness and
Commer ce Code Section 27.01 and under Texas Cvil Statutes
article 581 (Blue Sky Law). The district court dism ssed
Mat assarin’s state securities clainms, stating, “Texas |aw uses
the sanme basic standards as federal |aw for determ ni ng what
constitutes a security. . . . Because this Court has previously
ruled that the transaction in the present case do[es] not satisfy
the Howey test for what constitutes a security, the Court
concl udes that Texas state law would arrive at the sanme result.”
The district court cited Wlson v. Lee, 601 S.W2d 483, 485 (Tex.
Cv. App.-—bBallas 1980, n.w. h.), for the proposition that federal
precedent defining a “security” also applies to the definition of
a security under Texas state |law. But neither WIson nor other
cases that state this proposition! deal with an ESOP interest.
In fact, Texas law may differ fromfederal |aw as to whether an
ESOP interest is a security. Texas Cvil Statutes article 581
provides, in part:

The term “security” or “securities” shall include

any certificate or instrunent representing or

11. See, e.g., Callejo v. Banconer, 764 F.2d 1101, 1125
n.33 (5th CGr. 1985); Canpbell v. C D. Payne & Cel dermann Sec.
Inc., 894 S.W2d 411, 417 (Tex. App.-Amarillo 1995, wit denied);
First Municipal Leasing Corp. v. Blankenship, Potts, A kman,
Hagin & Stewart, 648 S.W2d 410, 414 (Tex. App.-—ballas 1983, wit
ref’d n.r.e.).
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secured by an interest in any or all of the capital,

property, assets, profits or earnings of any conpany,

i nvestment contract, or any other instrunent commonly

known as a security, whether simlar to those herein

referenced or not.

Tex. Rev. Cv. Stat. art. 581-4(A). Unlike the federal securities
| aw definitions of a “security” found in 15 U.S.C. 88 77b(a)(1)
and 78c(a)(10), the Texas statute nay well be broad enough to

i nclude a nonvoluntary ESOP interest. W need not reach the

i ssue, however, because even if the Geat Enpire ESOP constitutes
a security under Texas |aw, Matassarin cannot nmaintain her state
securities action.

Mat assari n bases her action upon Texas Revised Cvil
Statutes article 581-33(B) and upon Texas Busi ness and Commerce
Code 8 27.01(a)(1). The forner provision states in part:

A person who offers to buy or who buys a security
by nmeans of an untrue statenent of a naterial

fact or an omssion to state a material fact necessary

in order to make the statenents made, in light of the

ci rcunst ances under which they are made, not

m sleading, is liable to the person selling the

security to him who may sue either at law or in equity

for recision or for damages if the buyer no | onger owns

the security.

Tex. Rev. Cv. Stat. art. 581-33(B). Texas Busi ness and Commerce
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Code section 27.01 applies to fraud in stock transactions. That
section provides in part:

Fraud in a transaction involving . . . stock in a

corporation or joint stock conpany consists of a .

fal se representation of a past or existing materi al

fact, when the false representation is (A) nmade to a

person for the purpose of inducing that person to enter

into a contract; and (B) relied on by that person

entering into the contract
Tex. Bus. & Com Code 8§ 27.01(a)(1). Requisite to an action under
these statutes is an “untrue statenent of a material fact or an
om ssion to state a material fact” or a “false representation.”
Mat assarin’s state securities claimrests upon an issue central
to her ERI SA argunent, nanely, that the defendants made
m srepresentati ons concerning her ESOP rights or the value of her
benefit. As set forth hereafter in our discussion of Matassarin's
ERI SA clainms, we find that the defendants nade no untrue
statenents of material fact or false representations to her. On
that ground, we affirmthe district court’s grant of summary
judgnent on Matassarin’s state securities clains. See Chevron
US A, Inc. v. Traillour Ol Co., 987 F.2d 1138, 1146 (5th Cr
1993) (noting that an appellate court may affirma grant of
summary judgnent on grounds other than those relied on by the

district court).
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|V

Mat assari n seeks recovery under the Enpl oyee Retirenent
I ncone Security Act of 1974 for benefits due her under the Pl an
and relief for various ERI SA violations. W find that the
district court properly granted sunmary judgnent to the
def endants on Matassarin’s ERI SA cl ai ns. 12
A Deni al of Benefits Due

Great Enpire interpreted the Plan and Matassarin’s QDRO to
requi re segregation of Matassarin’s Plan benefits into an account
that will accrue mniml interest until Danny Jenkins reaches
retirement age. Matassarin contends that her benefit due shoul d
continue to be 520.086 shares of Great Enpire shares at current
share value, or alternatively that she, along with other
segr egat ed- account hol ders, should have the opportunity to
receive a cash distribution equal to the current fair market
val ue of her shares. ERI SA § 502(a)(1)(B) states: “A civil action
may be brought . . . by a participant or beneficiary . . . to
recover benefits due to hi munder the terns of his plan, to
enforce his rights under the terns of the plan, or to clarify his
rights to future benefits under the terns of the plan . . . .”7 29

US C 8 1132(a)(1)(B). As a QDRO recipient, Mitassarin has

12. Because we affirmthe grants of sunmmary judgnment, we do
not consi der whet her appell ee Menke & Associ ates coul d face
liability as a Plan fiduciary within 29 U. S.C. § 1002(21)(A)’s
definition of a fiduciary.
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standing to bring these clains. See Boggs v. Boggs, 520 U. S. 833,
---, 117 S. C. 1754, 1763 (1997) (“In creating the QDRO
mechani sm Congress was careful to provide that the alternate
payee . . . is to be considered a plan beneficiary.”); see also
29 U.S.C. § 1056 (d)(3)(J).

The Great Enpire ESOP gives its adm nistrator discretionary
authority to construe the Plan terns.®® Wien a plan gives such
discretion, a district court will overrule the plan
admnistrator’s interpretation of plan terns only if the

interpretation is “arbitrary and capricious.” See Firestone Tire
& Rubber Co. v. Bruch, 489 U S 101, 115, 109 S. C. 948, 955
(1989); WIldbur v. ARCO Chem cal Co., 974 F.2d 631, 637-39 (5th
Cir. 1992). The “arbitrary and capricious” review anounts to an
abuse-of -di scretion standard. See McDonald v. Provident Indemity
Life I nsurance. Co., 60 F.3d 234, 236 (5th Gr. 1995). Applying

t he sane standards as the district court, this Court reviews the
Great Enpire ESOP admnistrator’s interpretation of Plan terns
for abuse of discretion.

We do not afford such deference to the Plan adm nistrator’s

interpretation of Matassarin’s QDRO A court reviews de novo a

13. Plan 8§ 18(a)(2)(A), in both the original and the
anended version, provides, in part, “All decisions required to be
made by the [Plan adm nistrative] Commttee involving the
interpretation, application and adm nistration of the Plan shal
be resolved by majority vote either at a neeting or in witing
W t hout a neeting.”
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plan adm nistrator’s | egal conclusions regarding the neaning of a
contract or statute. Cf. Penn v. Howe-Baker Engineers, Inc., 898
F.2d 1096, 1100 (5th Cr. 1990) (review ng de novo a plan
admnistrator’s determ nation as to whether an enpl oyee was an
i ndependent contractor for coverage purposes). The QDRO, unlike
the Plan, is a separate, judicially approved contract between
Jenki ns and Matassarin, which the Plan adm nistrator has no
special discretion to interpret. Al though we allow a plan
adm ni strator discretion to determ ne whether an agreenent
constitutes a QDRO under the plan, we otherw se review de novo a
plan adm nistrator’s interpretation of the neaning of a QDRO. See
Hul l ett v. Towers, Perrin, Forster & Crosby, Inc., 38 F.3d 107,
114 (3d Gr. 1994) (finding that a district court “did not err in
hol ding that it should review de novo the plan adm nistrator’s
construction of the [divorce agreenent], which invoked issues of
contract interpretation under the Agreenent and not the plan”).

1. The Nature of Matassarin’s |Interest

Congress created the QDRO structure in the Retirenent Equity
Act (“REA’) of 1984, which anmended ERI SA. Through t he REA,
Congress enhanced ERI SA's protection of divorced spouses and
their interest in retirement funds earned during marriage. See
Boggs, 520 U.S. at ---, 117 S. C. at 1763. “The QDRO provi sions
protect those persons who, often as a result of divorce, m ght

not receive the benefits they otherwi se woul d have had avail abl e
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during their retirenent as a neans of incone.” Id. at ---, 117 S.
. at 1767. In order to acconplish this, the REA anendnents
require that “[e]ach pension plan shall provide for the paynent
of benefits in accordance with the applicable requirenents of any
qualified donestic relations order.” 29 U S.C. 8§ 1056(d)(3)(A).
Furthernore, “[e]ach plan shall establish reasonabl e procedures
to determne the qualified status of donestic relations orders
and to adm ni ster distributions under such qualified orders.” 29
U S C 8§ 1056(d)(3)(Q(ii).

The QDRO in this case assigned Matassarin one-half of
Jenkins’s “[i]nterest [in] the assets accredited to [his] ESOP
Accounts as of Cctober 15, 1991.” It also “require[d] that the
Adm ni strator of the Great Enpire Broadcasting, Inc. ESOP
segregate [Matassarin’s assigned] Interest, and that said
segregated account . . . continue to accunulate Interest at a
rate equivalent to a one-year Certificate of Deposit.” These two
requi renents’ opaqueness nakes it understandabl e that Matassarin
m ght question the treatnent of her account. W seek here to
provide clarification.

Mat assarin contends that she is entitled to nore than the
sinple interest that wll accunul ate on her segregated shares’
cash value as of the last valuation date before the segregation.
She contends that she should receive the cash val ue of 520. 086

shares at whatever tine the Plan passes the benefits to her. W

- 24-



di sagree. The ESOP defines the “valuation date” as the Decenber
31 “coinciding wwth or immedi ately preceding the date of actual

distribution of Plan Benefits.” Matassarin states that because
the Plan has not nade a distribution to her, the adm nistrator
erred by val uing her shares as of the divorce date. The QDRO,
however, contravenes the interpretation that Matassarin urges.
Necessarily reducing Matassarin’s interest to cash value is
inplicit in the QORO because cash principal can accunmul ate

i nterest, whereas shares, owing to their fluctuating val ue,
cannot. To read the QDRO as requiring Matassarin to receive the
total of 520.086 shares valued at the date of paynent to

Mat assari n woul d render neani ngl ess the QDRO provision pertaining
to interest. The Plan adm nistrator instead valued Matassarin's
interest at the date of segregation--that is, distribution to her
i nterest-accunul ati ng segregated account. In light of the QDRO
provi sions, the Plan adm nistrator’s interpretation was legally
correct.

Mat assarin al so argues that the G eat Enpire ESOP--
specifically, restated 8 18(e)(1)--supports her position. Under
that provision, the Plan adm ni strator nust segregate a QDRO
beneficiary’ s account and “continue to [treat it] in the sane
manner as the affected Accounts of the Participant,” albeit
absent further contributions or forfeitures from G eat Enpire.
The appel | ees argue that the restated Pl an, although retroactive
to 1989, should not apply to Matassarin’s QDRO, because at the
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tinme that the QORO was entered, the original Plan provisions were
ef fective. The appellees’ reasoning is not self-evident, and one
m ght pl ausi bly argue that the 1994 restatenent shoul d i ndeed
apply to Matassarin’s QDRO '* That issue, however, is a matter of
Plan interpretation, which we review under the abuse-of -
di scretion standard. No matter which interpretation this Court
m ght prefer, the Plan adm nistrator did not act arbitrarily and
capriciously in finding that the provisions added to § 18(e) (1)
in 1994 do not govern Matassarin' s QDRO

2. Di stribution of Benefits

Mat assarin argues that she is currently entitled to
di stribution of her benefit, that beneficiaries under the ESOP
may select distribution of benefits “in the form of enployer
securities,” and that beneficiaries have an option to “put” those
securities back for fair nmarket value. Matassarin argues that two

tax code provisions--26 U S.C. §8 409(h)* and 26 U S.C

14. In the original Plan §8 19(a), Geat Enpire “reserve[d]
the right to anend the Plan at any tinme and fromtinme to tine, in
whol e or in part, including without limtation, retroactive
anendnents . . . .” Matassarin becane a Plan beneficiary on
Cct ober 15, 1991, and remained so in 1994, when the Plan was
restated. Section 1(b) of the 1994 restatenent rendered the
restatenent’s provisions retroactive to January 1, 1989. The
restatenent does not except segregated accounts fromretroactive
application of its terns. Thus, at the tine that Plan fiduciaries
offered Matassarin a distribution in Decenber 1994 or May 1995,
they m ght have been able to treat Matassarin’ s account--a
“segregated account” as established under the Plan--as subject to
the restated Pl an.

15. That statute provides, in part:
A plan neets the requirenents of this subsection
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8§ 4975(e)(7) - -nmandate these beneficiary options in a tax-exenpt
pl an such as the Geat Enpire ESOP. Matassarin is correct that,
under those provisions, ESOP participants who are entitled to
di stribution nust be able to demand enpl oyer securities as the
formof distribution. She is, however, m staken to contend that
she is nowentitled to a distribution. A though the QRO fails to
specify the date of distribution, 8§ 18(e)(4) in both the original
and the restated Plan provides that no distributions need be nade
to Matassarin before Jenkins reaches retirenent eligibility. The
Retirenment Equity Act recogni zes that a QDRO may del ay
distribution until the Plan participant could retire. See 29
US C 8 1056(d)(3)(E)(i). We see no reason why an ERI SA-
qualified plan may not do the sane.

Mat assarin’s donestic relations order met the Plan’s 8§ 18(e)
qualifications. The Plan adm nistrator interpreted the QDRO
requi renents and harnoni zed themw th the Plan provisions. W

find no error in the Plan admnnistrator’s interpretation of the

if a participant who is entitled to a distribution from
the plan—A) has a right to demand that his benefits be
distributed in the formof enployer securities, and (B)
if the enployer securities are not readily tradable on
an established market, has a right to require that the
enpl oyer repurchase enpl oyer securities under a fair
val uation fornmul a.

26 U.S.C. § 409(h)(1).

16. “A plan shall not be treated as an enpl oyee stock
ownership plan unless it neets the requirenents of section 409(h)
.7 26 U.S.C. 8§ 4975(e) (7).
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QDRO and no abuse of discretion inits interpretation of the Plan
provi sions. Accordingly, we affirmthe district court’s grant of
summary judgnent to the defendants on Matassarin’s ERI SA cl ai m
for denial of benefits.

B. ERI SA Viol ati ons and Breach of Fiduciary Duty

Mat assari n next contends that the G eat Enpire ESOP
fiduciaries failed to satisfy ERI SA requirenents and vi ol at ed
their fiduciary duty to her and to the Plan generally. She relies
upon ERI SA 88 502(a)(2) and (a)(3).

1. Section 502(a)(2)

Section 502(a)(2) provides a cause of action for injuries
caused by violations of ERI SA § 509. Section 509 focuses on
fiduciary breaches that cause harmto a plan as a whol e:

Any person who is a fiduciary with respect to a

pl an who breaches any of the responsibilities,

obligations, or duties inposed upon fiduciaries by this

subchapter shall be personally |iable to make good to

such plan any |losses to the plan resulting from each

such breach, and to restore to such plan any profits of

such fiduciary which have been nade t hrough use of

assets of the plan by the fiduciary, and shall be

subj ect to such other equitable or renedial relief as

the court may deem appropriate, including renoval of

such fiduciary.
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29 U.S. C 8§ 1109(a). The Suprene Court, noting ERISA s primary
concern with the possible m suse or poor managenent of plan
assets, has stated that the “loss to the plan” |anguage in 8§ 1109
limts clainms to those that inure to the benefit of the plan as a
whol e and not to the benefit only of individual plan
beneficiaries. See McDonald, 60 F.3d at 237 (citing Massachusetts
Mutual Life Insurance Co. v. Russell, 473 U S. 134, 140-42 & nn.
8-9, 105 S. . 3085, 3089-90 & nn. 8-9 (1985)). Based upon this
statutory purpose, we find that the district court properly
granted sunmary judgnent on Matassarin’s 8 502(a)(2) claim

Most of the ERI SA breaches that Matassarin all eges concern
only her individual account or, at nost, those of the sixty-seven
Pl an participants who were offered | unp-sumdistributions. The
exception to this is Matassarin’s claimthat the defendants
failed to conformthe G eat Enpire ESOP to 26 U. S.C. § 409(h) and
26 U S.C. 8 4975(e)(7) and thereby jeopardized the Plan’s tax-
exenpt status. It appears that the original Plan docunent did
fail to all ow segregated-account holders to purchase conpany
stock. The anended Pl an docunent renedied that error in order to
bring the Plan into conpliance with the tax code provisions. The
def endants have admtted to omtting m stakenly fromthe May 1995
foll ow up correspondence the fact that participants could sel ect
Great Enpire securities as the formof distribution. But this

om ssion seens to have been a sinple oversight. Nothing in the

-29-



record or pleadings indicates that participants who were entitled
to distribution were in fact denied the right to demand enpl oyer
securities, such as would disqualify the Plan under those tax
code provisions. Matassarin has failed to allege any way in which
t he defendants’ actions caused a loss to the Plan as a whol e as
envisioned in § 502(a)(2). We therefore affirmthe district
court’s grant of sunmary judgnent on Matassarin’s 8§ 502(a)(2)
claim

2. Section 502(a)(3)

Summary judgnent on Matassarin’s 8§ 502(a)(3) claimwas
appropriate only if Matassarin provided no evidence of any ERI SA
violation. Under 8 502(a)(3), a plan participant may bring an
action

(A) to enjoin any act or practice which violates any

provi sion of [ERISA's protection of enpl oyee benefit

rights] or the ternms of the plan, or (B) to obtain

ot her appropriate equitable relief (i) to redress such

violations or (ii) to enforce any provisions of

[ ERI SA" s protection of enployee benefit rights] or the

terns of the plan.

29 U S C 8 1132(a)(3). A plan beneficiary may bring a
8 502(a)(3) action against an ERI SA fiduciary based on loss to
the individual beneficiary as well as based on loss to the plan

as a whole. See Varity Corp. v. Howe, 516 U S. 489, 496, 116 S
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Ct. 1065, 1075-76 (1996) (contrasting § 1132(a)(2) with
8§ 1132(a)(3), which does not require loss to the plan as a
whol e). Matassarin alleges four types of ERI SA violations: (1)
fiduciary self-dealing, (2) failure to invest prudently, (3)
interference with her exercise of protected rights, and (4)
failure to provide information.
a. Fi duci ary Sel f-Dealing

The Great Enpire ESOP in early 1995 reabsorbed suspended
shares in 8 14(h) accounts, paying each account hol der the val ue
of his shares as of the Decenber 31 preceding his separation from
the Plan. According to Matassarin, the Plan effectively
repurchased shares for less than the fair market val ue on the
date of repurchase. Those who benefitted nost fromthis
repurchase, she continues, were (1) the Plan fiduciaries, who
held the | argest share accounts in the Plan; and (2) Lynch and
Cat man, whose conpany, Great Enpire, was able to avoid paying
fair market value for the shares. Matassarin argues that these
actions violated ERI SA 8 406(b), which prohibits fiduciary self-

deal i ng. ¥/

17. A fiduciary wwth respect to a plan shall not--

(1) deal with the assets of the plan in his own
interest or for his own account,

(2) in his individual or in any other capacity act in
any transaction involving the plan on behalf of a party (or
represent a party) whose interests are adverse to the
interests of the plan or the interests of its participants
or beneficiaries, or

(3) receive any consideration for his own personal
account fromany party dealing with such plan in connection
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We need not consider the claimin depth. Under § 502(a)(3),
a beneficiary may bring an action to enjoin an ERI SA viol ation or
for equitable relief. In this case, Matassarin has nothing to
enjoin and no equitable relief available to her on behalf of the
Plan as a whole. The “repurchase” took place in 1995. The Plan as
a whole did not suffer, and Matassarin’s individual segregated
account was unaffected. Even if Matassarin’s 8 406(b) allegations
are neritorious, the only beneficiaries possibly entitled to
relief would be the Plan participants who were allegedly offered
| ess than fair value for the interests in their § 14(h)
accounts.'® As we have stated, the district court did not abuse
its discretion in finding Matassarin an inappropriate
representative for a class that would include those Plan
partici pants. \Wereas Matassarin individually has no § 502(a)(3)
relief available to her for § 406(b) violations, the district

court properly denied her claimfor breach of fiduciary duty.?®

wth a transaction involving the assets of the plan.
29 U.S.C. 8§ 1106(b).

18. We nmeke no finding here as to whether any separated
Plan participant wwth a §8 14(h) account would have a claim
agai nst the Plan fiduciaries.

19. We have not considered whether the duties set forth in
8 406(b) necessarily apply in this ESOP situation. ERI SA § 408(e)
general ly exenpts ESOP fiduciaries fromg§8 406 requi renents when
t he questioned transaction involves the acquisition or sale of
“qual i fying enpl oyer securities,” which include stock. 29 U S. C
8§ 1108(e); see 29 U.S. C. 8§ 1107(d)(5)(A). Section 408(e) has been
interpreted to allow “[a]n ESOP [to] acquire enpl oyer securities
in circunstances that woul d otherw se violate Section 406 if the
purchase is nmade for ‘adequate consideration.’”” Donovan v.
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b. Failure To I nvest Prudently

Mat assari n next argues that the defendants’ allow ng her
segregated account to accrue only mnimal interest violates the
prudent - person i nvestnent standard’s diversification requirenent
under ERI SA 8§ 404. ERISA 8 404 requires a plan fiduciary to
“di scharge his duty with respect to a Plan solely in the interest
of the participants and beneficiaries and . . . by diversifying
the investnents of the plan so as to mnimze the risk of |arge
| osses, unless under the circunstances it is clearly prudent not
to do so.” 29 U S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(C); see Metzler v. Gaham 112
F.3d 207, 209 (5th Gr. 1997) (addressing the diversification
requi renent). The defendants’ failure to diversify Matassarin’s
account did not in any way expose it to the risk of large | osses
and therefore did not breach an explicit 8 404 diversification
duty. W are mndful, however, that inplicit within 8 404(a) is
the desirability of increasing a plan’s value--preferably

ensuring nore than passbook interest--through sound investnent. ?°

Cunni ngham 716 F.2d 1455, 1465 (5th Cr. 1983). The nore |ikely
chal I enge involving this exenption would question whet her an ESOP
paid too much for enployer securities. W know of none in which a
claimant alleged that an ESOP cheated its fornmer participants by
paying too little for enployer securities. Wereas Matassarin
woul d not be entitled to relief even if 8§ 406(b) does apply, we
need not decide the issue here.

20. Section 404(a)(1)(B), for exanple, requires an ERI SA
fiduciary to discharge his duties as would “a prudent man acti ng
inlike capacity and famliar with such matters,” which would
contenplate increasing the plan’s value. 29 U S. C
8§ 1104(a)(1)(B)
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Nonet hel ess, Matassarin’s QDRO the terns of which the defendants
were bound to apply, requires just passbook interest, rendering
it clearly prudent under 8404(a)(1)(C) for Geat Enpire not to
diversify in this case.

We recogni ze the aberrancy and difficulty of Matassarin's
situation. In enacting ERI SA, Congress sought to ensure that
wor kers who have been prom sed certain retirenent benefits
actually receive those benefits. See Pension Benefit Guaranty
Corp. v. RA Gay & Co., 467 U. S. 717, 720, 104 S. C. 2709,
2713 (1984). Although the primary purpose of an ESOP differs from
that of a pension plan, ESOPs renain subject to ERI SA's general
protective restrictions and requirenents. See Cunni ngham 716
F.2d at 1463-68. From Matassarin’s point of view, the QDRO
structure has hurt her retirenent prospects. Wiile married to

Jenki ns, Matassarin no doubt | ooked forward to enjoying with him

ERI SA sound-i nvestnent requirenents do not generally apply
to an ESOP, which is “designed to invest primarily in securities
i ssued by its sponsoring conpany.” Cunningham 716 F.2d at 1458;
see 29 U . S.C. § 1104(a)(2) (exenmpting ESOPs from diversification
requirenents); 29 U S . C 8 1107(b), (d) (sane); see also Mdench
v. Robertson, 62 F.3d 553, 568 (3d Cr. 1995) (“ESOPs, unlike
pension plans, are not intended to guarantee retirenent benefits,
and indeed, by its very nature, ‘an ESOP pl aces enpl oyee
retirement assets at much greater risk than does the typica
diversified ERISA plan.”” (quoting Martin v. Feilen, 965 F.2d
660, 664 (8th Gr. 1992)). If Matassarin were an ordi nary ESOP
participant, the nature of the Plan woul d probably exenpt her
account from standard ERI SA diversification requirenents. But
Mat assarin is of course not an ordinary ESOP partici pant, insofar
as her account, per the terns of her QDRO no | onger depends upon
enpl oyer securities. As such, any ESOP exception seens
i nappl i cabl e.
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the retirenment benefits of his Geat Enpire ESCOP shares.
Presumabl y, she and Jenki ns expected that the shares’ val ue woul d
increase in the years before Jenkins becane eligible for
retirement. Because the QDRO requires valuation of Matassarin’s
shares as of the date of her divorce, she |ost the prospect of
significant increase in the shares’ value to fund her retirenent.
In short, Matassarin’s QDRO renoved her savings fromthe anbit of
a nore traditional ERI SA-qualified ESOP or pension plan, which
woul d focus on increasing savings.

This case raises the question, then, of how a pl an
admnistrator is to treat a beneficiary whose QRO appears out of
line fromthe greater goals of ERISA. W believe that both ERI SA
and case law require a plan admnistrator to follow the dictates
of the QDRO Once a plan adm nistrator determ nes that a donestic
rel ati ons order neets the criteria set forth in 29 U S C
§ 1056(d)(3) and thus is “qualified,” he is required to act in
accordance with the QDRO. See, e.g., In re Gendreau, 122 F.3d
815, 817-18 (9th Cr. 1997); Metropolitan Life Insurance Co. V.
Wheaton, 42 F.3d 1080, 1085 (7th Cr. 1994). *“ERI SA does not
require, or even permt, a pension fund to | ook beneath the
surface of the order. Conpliance with a QRO is obligatory.

This directive would be enpty if pension plans could add to the

statutory list of requirenents for ‘qualified status.” Blue v.

UAL Corp., 160 F.3d 383, 385 (7th Cir. 1998). Through its QDRO
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amendnents, federal ERISA |aw defers to donestic relations orders
approved in state court proceedings. W do not find the deference
to be affected by whether the QDRO nay slow the growth of the
subj ect retirenent savings.

Mat assari n makes several argunents as to why her QDRO should
not be enforced. She contends, for exanple, that Jenkins insisted
on the QDRO format as necessary to recognition under the G eat
Enpire ESOP, that Menke & Associates unfairly drafted the order,
and that she did not realize the inplications of the order for
her retirement benefits. A United States district court is not
the proper forumin which to raise such argunents. W acknow edge
t hat ERI SA supersedes state |law insofar as the state | aw
“relate[s] to” an ERI SA-qualified enpl oyee benefit plan. 29
U S C 8§ 1144(a). Federal courts may be called upon to determ ne
the proper beneficiary under a QDRO or to review a plan
admnistrator’s interpretation of a QDRO, as we have done here.
But although we read § 1144(a)’s “relates to” |anguage broadly,
see Shaw v. Delta Air Lines, Inc., 463 U S. 85, 97, 103 S. O
2890, 2900 (1983), we cannot say that a federal court’s role
extends as far as exam ning the circunstances under which a
potential beneficiary entered and a state court approved a QDRO.
Such a claimaffects donmestic relations, which is not an area of

excl usive federal concern. See Menorial Hospital Systemyv

Nor t hbrook Life Insurance Co., 904 F.2d 236, 245 (5th Cr. 1990)
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(stating that cases in which ERI SA preenpts state-law cl ains, the
clai ns address areas of exclusive federal concern). If Matassarin
beli eves that she m stakenly entered the QDRO or was fraudul ently
i nduced to do so, then the Kansas state court that approved that
order is the entity to hear her conplaints. Cf. Perkins v. Tine
| nsurance Co., 898 F.2d 470, 473 (5th Cr. 1990) (holding that a
claimthat an insurance agent fraudulently induced an insured to
surrender his current insurance and participate in an ERI SA pl an
“related to” the ERISA plan only indirectly, so that ERI SA woul d
not preenpt the state claim. The REA anendnents preserve ERI SA
anti-alienation provisions while |leaving donestic relations in
the states’ hands. W will not disturb that structure.
C. Interference wwth Protected R ghts

ERI SA §8 510, titled “Interference wwth Protected R ghts,”
makes it unlawful to discrimnate against an ERI SA pl an
beneficiary for exercising his rights or in order to interfere
wth his attainnment of any right. See 29 U. S.C. § 1140. A
violation of 8 510 requires specific intent to discrimnate. See
Unida v. Levi Strauss & Co., 986 F.2d 970, 979-80 (5th Gr.
1993). Matassarin alleges that Lynch, Catman, Jenkins, and G eat
Enpire discrimnated agai nst her for seeking her entitlenent
under her QDRO. Al though her clains are not entirely clear
Mat assari n apparently argues that because G eat Enpire sent her

the May 1995 letters--which it clains were sent in error--and
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| ater denied that she was entitled to any distribution, G eat
Enpire was in fact discrimnating agai nst her for seeking what
she was due. W find that sunmary judgnent on this clai mwas
appropriate because Matassarin produced no evidence that her
inquiries pronpted the defendants’ actions or Plan
interpretation. Matassarin also clains nore general
di scrim nation based on the appellees’ contention that she was
the only segregated account hol der who was not entitled to a
distribution in May 1995. This claimis |ikew se without nerit.
Unli ke the sixty-seven separated Plan participants, Mtassarin
had a QDRO, a separate contract that required different treatnent
for Matassarin than for the sixty-seven holders of § 14(h)
accounts offered distributions. Sunmary judgnent was appropriate
as to Matassarin’s clains for interference with her protected
rights.
d. Failure To Provide Information

Mat assarin argues that the defendants violated ERI SA
8§ 105(a), 29 U. S.C. § 1025(a), which concerns statenents
furnished by an admnistrator to participants and beneficiaries:

Each adm ni strator of an enpl oyee pension benefit

pl an shall furnish to any plan participant or

beneficiary who so requests in witing, a statenent

i ndi cating, on the basis of the |atest avail abl e

information--(1) the total benefits accrued, and (2)
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the nonforfeitabl e pension benefits, if any, which have

accrued, or the earliest date on which benefits wll

becone nonforfeitable.
29 U S. C 8§ 1025(a). As the provision states, the plan
participant must request the statenent in witing in order to
trigger the admnistrator’s 8§ 1025 duty. Matassarin seeks
penal ti es of $100 per day under ERISA 8§ 502(c) (1) against the
trustees and other fiduciary defendants for Geat Enpire’s
alleged failure to provide information regarding the val ue of her
stock. Section 502(c)(1l), simlar to 8§ 1025(a), requires the
participant to request information before an adm nistrator may be
sanctioned for failing to provide it.? Matassarin does not state
what, if any, material she specifically requested and the
defendants failed to provide, such as would allow for penalties
under 8§ 502(c)(1). This Court reviews only for abuse of

discretion a district court’s decision whether to assess

21. ERISA § 502(c)(1l) states, in part:

Any adm nistrator . . . who fails or refuses to
conply with a request for any information which such
admnistrator is required by this subchapter to furnish
to a participant or beneficiary (unless such failure or
refusal results frommatters reasonably beyond the
control of the admnistrator) by mailing the materi al
requested to the |ast known address of the requesting
participant or beneficiary within 30 days after such
request may in the court’s discretion be personally
liable to such participant or beneficiary in the anmount
of up to $100 a day fromthe date of such failure or
refusal, and the court may in its discretion order such
other relief as it deens proper.

29 U. S . C. 8§ 1132(c)(1).
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penal ti es under 8 502(c)(1). See, e.g., Godwin v. Sun Life
Assurance Co., 980 F.2d 323, 327 (5th Cr. 1992) (reviewi ng only
for abuse of discretion the district court’s refusal to award
penal ties under 8 502); Fisher v. Metropolitan Life |Insurance
Co., 895 F.2d 1073, 1077 (5th G r. 1990) (sane). Gven that the
def endants do not appear to have deni ed any request that
Mat assarin made, the district court did not abuse its discretion
in refusing to asses penalties.

In her Third Anmended Conpl aint and ot her pl eadi ngs,
Mat assarin argued that the defendants viol ated ERI SA when t hey
failed to provide her wwth a summary pl an description or with
annual reports. She also provided the district court with an
affidavit stating that she had not received a summary pl an
description. W need not exam ne whether the district court
i nproperly granted sunmary judgnment on this issue,? insofar as
Mat assarin fails to brief adequately or otherw se pursue it on
appeal and thus has waived it.

Accordingly, we affirmthe grant of summary judgnent as to
Mat assarin’s ERI SA § 502(a)(3) claim
C. Jury Trial Demand

Because we have concluded that Matassarin did not present

any viable ERISA claim we do not consider the district court’s

22. ERISA § 104(b), 29 U S.C. 8§ 1024(b), requires that plan
participants and beneficiaries be furnished with a summary pl an
description, as set forth in 8 1022(a), and wth annual reports.
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denial of her notion for a jury trial.
D. Attorneys’ Fees

ERI SA § 502(9g) (1), 29 U.S.C. 8§ 1132(g)(1), allows the court,
inits discretion, to award reasonable attorneys’ fees to either
party. Gven that Matassarin herself perfornmed nost of the |ega
wor k and pursued unviable clains, the district court did not
abuse its discretion in refusing to award attorneys’ fees to
Mat assari n.

\%

Mat assari n next appeals Judge Prado’s refusal to recuse
hinmself. In her earlier petitionto this Court for a mandanus
directing the judge to recuse hinself, Mtassarin conpl ai ned that
a footnote in one of the judge’'s orders evinced a bias agai nst
her. She stated that the footnote, which rem nded all parties to
the action to treat court personnel with courtesy and civility,
resulted froma briefing attorney incorrectly reporting to Judge
Prado the tenor of a conversation he had with Matassarin. On the
basis of this alleged bias, Mtassarin clains, Judge Prado should
have recused hinself. See 28 U S. C. 88 144 and 455(a)-(b).

We review Judge Prado’s denial of the notion to recuse for
abuse of discretion. See In re Billedeaux, 972 F.2d 104, 106 (5th
Cr. 1992) (citing Chitimacha Tribe v. Harry L. Laws Co., 690
F.2d 1157, 1166 (5th Cr. 1982)). “The standard for judicia

di squalification under 28 U.S.C. § 455 is whether a reasonable
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person, with full know edge of all the circunstances, would
har bor doubts about the judge's inpartiality.” Vieux Carre
Property Omers, Residents, and Associates, Inc. v. Brown, 948
F.2d 1436, 1448 (5th Gr. 1991). W note that

remarks during the course of a trial that are critica

or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the

parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a

bias or partiality challenge. . . . Not establishing

bias or partiality . . . are expressions of inpatience,

di ssati sfacti on, annoyance, and even anger that are

w thin the bounds of what inperfect nen and wonen, even

af ter having been confirned as federal judges,

sonetines display. A judge’ s ordinary efforts at

courtroom adm ni strati on--even a stern and short-

tenpered judge’s ordinary efforts at courtroom

adm ni stration--remain i nmune.
Liteky v. United States, 510 U. S. 540, 555-56, 114 S. C. 1147,
1157 (1994); see al so Hol |l ywood Fantasy Corp. v. Gbor, 151 F. 3d
203, 216 n.6 (5th Gr. 1998). Judge Prado’ s footnote, even if it
did result froma false report about Matassarin’s interaction
wth court personnel, falls far, far short of “such a high degree
of favoritismor antagonismas to nake fair judgnent inpossible.”
Liteky, 510 U. S. at 555, 114 S. C. at 1157. W therefore hold

that the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying
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the notion to recuse.
Vi
The judgnent of the district court is AFFIRMED in al

respects.
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